IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 Margaret Reddy, Mohan Thalamarla, Supreme Court No. 83763 2 Max Global, INC. 3 Appellants, **Electronically Filed** 4 Jun 21 2022 11:51 p.m. vs. Elizabeth A. Brown 5 MEDAPPEAL, LLC, an Illinois Clerk of Supreme Court limited liability company 6 Respondent. 7 8 9 APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF 10 11 12 The Wasielewski Law Firm, LTD. Andrew Wasielewski, Esq. 13 Nevada Bar No. 6161 14 8275 South Eastern Avenue, Suite 200-818 Las Vegas, NV 89123 15 Telephone: (702) 490-8511 Fascimile: (702) 548-9684 16 andrew@wazlaw.com 17 Attorney for Appellants, Margaret Reddy, Mohan Thalamarla, Max Global, LLC 18 19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26

27

A. JURISDICTION OVER THE APPEAL

NRAP 3(A) sets for the areas in which the Nevada Supreme Court can take jurisdiction over an appeal. The only applicable statute allowing jurisdiction of this matter, as contained within NRAP 3(A) is NRAP 3A(b)(1), appeal from a final judgment.

Prior Appellants' counsel filed the appeal of the orders for granting attorney's fees and denial of Appellants' Huneycutt motion on November 5, 2021. The appeal was timely filed.

Appellants appeal the following decisions:

- a) Order for Attorney's Fees, entered in this action on the 6th day of October, 2021.
- b) Order Denying Appellants' Motion for Relief (Huneycutt Motion) dated October 27, 2021.

1 2

1 /

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews de novo a district court's determination of personal jurisdiction. Fulbright & Jaworski LLP v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 342 P.3d 997 (Nev. 2015). Similarly, this Court reviews questions of law under the de novo standard of review Frantz v. Johnson, 116 Nev. 455, 471, 999 P.2d 351, 361 (2000).

This court reviews the district court's findings of fact for an abuse of discretion, and this court will not set aside those findings "unless they are clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence". Sandy Valley Assocs. v. Sky Ranch Estates, 117 Nev. 948, 954, 35 P.3d 964, 968 (2001).

Appellants address the findings of fact made from documentary evidence otherwise precluded from admission for legal reasons such as privilege and evidentiary inadmissibility during ruling on motions for summary judgment and as such, as it is involving a purely legal question, these rulings are reviewed de novo. Settelmeyer & Sons v. Smith & Harmer, 124 Nev. 1206, 1215 (2008).

This court interprets an unambiguous statute based on its plain meaning by reading it as a whole and "giv[ing] effect to each. . . word[]and phrase[]." Davis v. Beling, 278 P.3d 501, 508 (2012). We do not look to other sources, such as legislative history, unless a statutory ambiguity requires us to look beyond the statute's language to determine the legislative intent. State Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mitt. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Nev. 290, 294 (2000).

D. ROUTING STATEMENT

This matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court and Appellants believe the Supreme Court shall retain this case.

E. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Remand is necessary for the following questions for review:

Previously the Court ruled on June 17, 2022 denying Appellants'

first appeal of the District Court's granting of Respondent's Motion

for Summary Judgment.

Appellants' second appeal asserts review of those issues contained in the opposition of the Motion for Attorney's fees and Appellants' Motion for Relief. Further, to the extent that prior counsel did not raise issues before current counsel was hired, this appeal addresses those issues raised in post judgment motions after the first appeal and before the second appeal.

Does Nevada allow a foreign LLC to do business without a license?

Does commencing a lawsuit equate to maintaining a lawsuit?

Does NRS 86.5483 allow a foreign LLC to sue foreign defendants in Nevada without having to get a license or to do business in Nevada?

Is it the public policy in Nevada to allow foreign LLCs to create litigation in Nevada without being licensed?

I. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. RELEVANT DISTRICT COURT PROCEEDINGS

Illinois:

١	Complaint (Appellants are not Defendants)	October 1, 2018
	Motion to Dismiss Illinois Complaint	December 14, 2018
	Order Granting Motion to Dismiss	March 19, 2019
	Nevada:	
	Complaint filed	April 12, 2019
	Motion to Dismiss (personal jurisdiction)	August 1, 2019
	Con't hearing, Motion to Dismiss, deny	August 20, 2019
	First Amended Complaint	August 31, 2019
	Order Denying Motion to Dismiss	October 4, 2019
	Answer to First Amended Complaint	October 28, 2019
	Motion for Attorney's Fees	August 31, 2021
	Notice of Entry of Order for Motion for	
	Attorney's Fees	October 6, 2021
	Motion for Relief	April 29, 2021
	Notice of Entry of Order for Denial of	
	Motion for Relief	October 27, 2021
	Notice of Appeal	November 5, 2021
۱	1	

B. NATURE OF CASE AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Respondent is a company owned by two IL attorney residents licensed to practice in the State of Illinois (Vol 1, p196 first paragraph). Respondent's owners contracted on behalf of another company to receive commercial business from 5 other defendants not

included in this appeal. (Vol 1, p9, paras 4-8). Respondent was dissatisfied with the commercial business it received and sued Brown, Weinstein, Vijay Reddy and two companies, Medasset and VBB, in Illinois. (Vol 1, p13, paras 37-43).

In the complaint, Respondent mentions Appellant MARGARET REDDY but does not name her as a defendant (Vol~1, p11, para27). MOHAN THALAMARLA and MAX GLOBAL LLC are neither mentioned in the complaint, nor sued in Illinois. (Vol~1, p8-20). The five entities objected to personal jurisdiction assertions in Illinois and prevailed on a Motion to Dismiss, (Vol~II, p270).

Respondent, then filed another action in Nevada, naming the same five defendants, plus Appellants as parties in this action ($Vol\ II$, $p313\ line\ 24\ -\ p314\ line\ 18$).

All defendants and Appellants filed another Motion to Dismiss asserting lack of personal jurisdiction (Vol II, p366 lines 20-24). Appellants filed affidavits stating no contacts with Nevada or with this Respondent (Vol II, p376, 377, 379). Respondent asserted that judicial estoppel precluded all 8 defendants, including Appellants who were not named parties in Illinois, estopped them from arguing lack of personal jurisdiction in Nevada (Vol II, p385 line 21 - p387 line 6). Appellants' motion was denied on August 20, 2019. (Vol III, p538 lines 14-15). Appellants' attorneys did not attend the 08/20/19 hearing (Vol III, p526 lines 19-23 and p538 lines 23-24).

Appellants filed a Huneycutt motion based on the concept that it is unlawful for a foreign LLC which has not done business in Nevada,

and is not licensed in Nevada filed and is still not licensed, to commence a lawsuit in Nevada on April 12, 2019 ($Vol\ IV\ Ex\ 30$). The Court denied this motion ($Vol\ IV\ Ex\ 32$).

Appellants appealed this Order and the Order granting attorney's fees and costs on November 5, 2021.

Appellants previously appealed the District Court granting Summary Judgment on July 16, 2021. This Court filed its Order affirming decision on June 17, 2022 in related appeal 83253.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

For Purposes of this appeal, Appellants do not dispute the following facts from the Notice of Entry of Order Denying Motions to Dismiss filed on October 4, 2019. ($Vol\ IV$, $p\ 764-768$).

1: (Vol IV, p765 lines 21-23)

15: (Vol IV, p767, lines 10-11)

Appellants filed a Motion to Dismiss (in Nevada) separate from anything filed in Illinois in which they argued that they were not subject to personal jurisdiction in Nevada (Vol~II, p366-379).

Respondent filed a complaint in Cook County, Illinois, arising out of an agreement to purchase a medical appeals and medical credentialing business (the "Purchase Agreement") (Vol I, p8 para 1).

There is not any dispute as to the following facts:

- a) Respondent did not make Appellants parties in the Illinois litigation. (Vol I, p8-9).
- b) Respondent never communicated to any Appellant. (Vol II, ps 376, 377, 379).

- c) Appellants are not parties to the contract. (Vol I, p41-43)
- d) Respondent is an LLC, not licensed in the State of Nevada to do business. (Vol~I, p8~para~1).
- e) Respondent has never done business in Nevada, other than to commence this litigation. ($Exhibit\ 31$).
- f) Respondent's principal place of business is in Illinois (Vol I, page 9, para 3). Ostensibly Respondent does business in its principal place of business, just not in Nevada (Ex 31).

No Appellant resides in Nevada (*Vol II*, *p376*, *377*, *379*). There is no dispute that the Respondent is a foreign LLC who never did business in Nevada and is not licensed to do business in Nevada, but rather is licensed in Illinois and does business there (Vol 1, page 9, para 3 and *Ex 31*).

In the instant case, the district court did not attempt a prima facia showing of either general or specific personal jurisdiction as to any of these Appellants ($Vol\ III\ p513-539$). The District Court solely ordered the motion to be dismissed because of judicial estoppel and for no other reason ($Vol\ III$, p541; $Vol\ IV\ p767\ line\ 15-p768\ line\ 11$).

There is nothing in the record that shows Appellants contacts with the forum state. There is undisputed evidence neither Appellants or Respondent have any contact with the forum state (Vol II, p376, 377, 379). From their sole evidence of Appellants' declarations, we see that they had no such contacts. Id. In fact,

there is no evidence that Appellants had anything to do with Respondent, and vice versa. Id.

STATEMENT OF LAW AND DISCUSSION

II.

A. NEVADA DOES NOT ALLOW FOREIGN LLCS TO DO BUSINESS WITHOUT A LICENSE TO DO BUSINESS

The complaint and the amended complaint do NOT aver that Plaintiff is licensed to do business in the State of Nevada. Furthermore, Respondent's Opposition to the Motion for Relief states that Respondent was never licensed and has never done business in the State of Nevada.

It appears that this issue is a matter of first appearance before

this court. This is solely because Respondent is a foreign LLC commencing a lawsuit without a license or any legal authority to do any type of business in this court. (Exhibits 30 and 31). There is no evidence available that would serve to allow Plaintiff to maintain this action against these Appellants in any event, because of Respondent's assertions that it never was licensed and never did business here. Id.

Respondent never cured this defect, to the best of the knowledge of the Appellants. *Id.* Respondent never made that fact known to any Appellant or in any pleading, until after Judgment. (*Ex 31 and 32*). Literally years of litigation occurred while so not licensed, in violation of NRS 86. Simply, MEDAPPEAL cannot maintain this action and any judgment granted to it must be immediately vacated.

Declarations were made and signed during the beginning of this case which in essence, established with certainty, there was no

connection with the instant lawsuit and their personal lives in Michigan / India.

MARGARET and MOHAN are non-resident defendants that reside over 1500 miles away. They had never met Medappeal employees or its officers. They never had any dealings with the Plaintiff on any level. They never spoke about Plaintiff to any other defendant in this case.

In the seminal case of AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Wash., 245 P.3d 1190 (Nev. 2010), the Nevada Supreme Court rules in pertinent part, to identify the difference between operating an LLC in a revoked status and operating an LLC without a charter:

"Doing business as an LLC without filing the initial organizational documents carries significant fines of up to \$10,000. NRS 86.213(1). A revoked charter, by contrast, carries no fines, only a \$75 penalty reinstatement fee. NRS 86.272(3). As for incentivizing judgment-proof LLCs to litigate with wanton abandon, NRS 86.361 provides that members of an unchartered entity risk individual liability unless the default is cured. See Nichiryo Am., Inc. v. Oxford Worldwide, LLC, No. 03:07-CV-00335-LRH-VPC, 2008 WL 2457935 (D.Nev. June 16, 2008); see also Resort at Summerlin v. Dist. Ct., 118 Nev. 110, 40 P.3d 432 (2002) (interpreting NRS 80.210 (now NRS 80.055) to condition commencement and maintenance of a lawsuit for foreign corporations on initial qualification rather than continuous upkeep of its qualification). The Legislature has addressed the penalties for an administrative default leading to charter revocation and loss of capacity to sue is not among them." Id. (emphasis added)

Currently, NRS 86.213 requires in pertinent part:

"1. Every person, other than a foreign limited-liability company, who is purporting to do business in this State as a limited-liability company and who willfully fails or neglects to file with the Secretary of State articles of organization is subject to a fine of not less than \$1,000 but not more than \$10,000, to be recovered in a court of competent jurisdiction."

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

The analogous statute for foreign limited liability companies is NRS 86.548 which has the same penalty and additionally states in pertinent part:

"2. Every foreign limited-liability company transacting business in this State which fails or neglects to register with the Secretary of State in accordance with the provisions of NRS 86.544 may not commence or maintain any action, suit or proceeding in any court of this State until it has registered with the Secretary of State."

The Nevada Supreme Court has <u>clearly stated</u> that the penalty for LLCs that DO BUSINESS in Nevada, but never register is not the same as the LLC who has registered but let its registration lapse in revocation status. It is clear, the curing of the willful failure to comply with the requirement to register NEVER gives a company the right to bring or maintain an action in this state.

Furthermore, in AA Primo Builders, commencement of a lawsuit is doing business in Nevada. There is no ambiguity of this term as it was used in that disposition (see also Resort at Summerlin v. Dist. Ct., 118 Nev. 110, 40 P.3d 432 (2002)).

In the instant case, Respondent is a foreign LLC (licensed to do business in Illinois) (Vol I, p8). It has its primary place of business located in Illinois. Id. It conducts business in Illinois and it intended to conduct business through the contract that it purchased, through another entity that ostensibly owns it, but which connection to this contract has never been properly established (Vol 1, page 52, footnote 1). While it states it has not done business in Nevada by creating a lawsuit in Nevada, it stated in Illinois that it has a right to do business there, because it created a lawsuit there to sue Appellants (see Vol 1, page 8). Clearly, Respondent has no right to do business in Nevada. The fact that it has, subjects it to a fine of

\$10,000.00 and any liability for sanctions are passed through the LLC to its managers, pursuant to AA Primo Builders LLC.

Further, Medappeal LLC cannot cure the problem by registering now. It needs to dismiss this action, register and then bring it again. There is simply no way for Medappeal to avail itself of this state's jurisdiction until it follows the simple rules.

B. COMMENCING A LAWSUIT IS DIFFERENT THAN MAINTAINING A LAWSUIT

As this Court has stated in *Resort at Summerlin v. Dist. Ct.*, 118 Nev. 110, 40 P.3d 432 (2002), commencement of a lawsuit is totally different than maintaining a lawsuit. It states this in 2 separate places, first it states:

"In this original proceeding, we are asked to decide a corporate law question of first impression: Whether Nevada's "door closing" statute, NRS 80.210, bars foreign corporations from **commencing or maintaining** suits in the courts of this state when those corporations have initially qualified to conduct business in Nevada pursuant to the laws of this state, yet fail to comply with the statutorily prescribed annual reporting requirements. We conclude that the express terms of NRS 80.210 do not preclude such corporations from commencing or maintaining suits in Nevada courts." *Id.* at 110 – 111. (emphasis added)

Next, it states again that the two words are different by explaining a page later:

"This statute provides that a foreign corporation "which fails or neglects to comply with the provisions of NRS 80.010 to 80.040, inclusive . . . may not commence or maintain any action or proceeding in any court of this state until it has fully complied with the provisions of NRS 80.010 to 80.040, inclusive." *Id.* at 112. (emphasis added)

Later on the same page, this Court ostensibly defines "commencement" as:

4 5

"Accordingly, in this original proceeding, we decide whether NRS 80.210 bars a foreign corporation such as A B from bringing suit in courts of this state when the foreign corporation initially qualifies to conduct business in Nevada, yet fails to comply with Nevada's annual reporting requirements." (emphasis added).

since it was no longer discussing "maintaining" in this context any longer.

On the next page, this Court again stated that commencing an action is "[i]n this case, however, it is uncontested that A B was "doing business" in Nevada" in footnote 9. *Id.* at fn 9, page 113. Further, it comes up again in footnote 10 on the same page. Again, on pages 114 and 115 this Court concludes there is a difference between commencement and maintaining.

Just to make sure there is no confusion that commencing and maintaining DO NOT mean the same thing, Appellants define them both. "Commencement of an action" is defined as "the time of filing the petition" (see https://www.lawinsider.com/dictionary/ commencement-of-the-action and see also NRS 41.010. Maintaining is keeping a lawsuit going, apart from "bringing a lawsuit" as can be seen in the language of NRS 41.085(3) which states in pertinent part:

"An action brought by the heirs of a decedent pursuant to subsection 2 and the cause of action of that decedent brought or maintained by the decedent's personal representatives which arose out of the same wrongful act or neglect may be joined." (emphasis added)

In the instant case, it is clear that as in everyday english, the law regards commencing a lawsuit as totally different than maintaining a lawsuit. Since the legislature in 19 years has not

added in the ability of a foreign LLC to commence a lawsuit without being licensed anywhere in NRS 86, it must be that it is intentionally not allowing Respondent to do so in this matter.

C. NRS 86.5483 WAS NEVER INTENDED TO ALLOW A FOREIGN LLC TO SUE FOREIGN DEFENDANTS WITHOUT FIRST REQUIRING A LICENSE

In AA Primo Builders, the court addresses companies like
Respondent which is a foreign LLC that is solely formed to sue
Appellants and the previous defendants not appealing. This Court
stated:

"Some corporations are primarily in the business of collecting debts and/or filing lawsuits. But most corporations are primarily engaged in some other business ... The term "transact business" probably could be construed to include pursuing litigation... Nevertheless, ... we cannot conclude that it must be necessarily so construed." AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Wash., 245 P.3d 1190 (Nev. 2010), quoting Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary 167, 1327 (11th Ed. 2005).

While in Nevada, the idea of what constitutes "doing business" is not defined (see AA Primo Builders), the California Franchise Board defines doing business as "actively engaging in any transaction for the purpose of financial or pecuniary gain or profit."

https://www.ftb.ca.gov/file/business/doing-business-in-california.html

In Illinois, doing business is defined as "include[ing] every trade, occupation, profession, and other lawful purpose, whether or not carried on for profit." (see 805 ILCS 180 1-5).

In Delaware, the following statute applies to foreign LLCs doing business in that state:

"§ 18-907. Doing business without registration.

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