IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Margaret Reddy, Mohan Thalamarla, Max Global, Inc.

Supreme Court No. 83763

Appellants,

Electronically Filed Jun 27 2022 02:25 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

MEDAPPEAL, LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

The Ball Law Group
Zachary T. Ball, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 8364
1935 Village Center Circle, Suite 120
Las Vegas, NV 89134
702-303-8600
zball@balllawgroup.com

Attorney for Respondent:

Medappeal, LLC

1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2		1	
3	Margaret Reddy, Mohan Thalamarla, Max Global, Inc.	Supreme Court No. 83253	
4	Appellants,		
5	ripponunts,		
6	VS.

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

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT.

A. Introduction.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

003-800 (202)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

The appeal filed by Defendants is inherently defective and should be dismissed for several different reasons. First, Defendants' argument is defeated by the law of the case doctrine. This Court has already reviewed Defendants' argument and decided against them. Defendants are not entitled to a second bite at the apple.

Second, Defendants do not cite to any evidence in the appellate record supporting their contention that Plaintiff engaged in business activities in Nevada. To the contrary, Defendants concede that Plaintiff has "never done business in Nevada." (Opening Brief at 4:4.) Having never done business in Nevada, Plaintiff certainly did not need to qualify to do business.

Finally, Defendants' appeal is demonstrably frivolous. They cite to statutes while ignoring the language of the statutes, they cite to judicial decisions while ignoring the facts of the decisions and they assert an argument that was just decided against them when their prior appeal was denied. No reasonable attorney would file the appeal at issue and Defendants should be sanctioned.

B. Standard Of Review.

Plaintiff does not disagree with the legal authority provided by Defendants when they discuss the applicable appellate standards of review. However,

Defendants did not identify all of the relevant standards. In particular,

Defendants ignored the rule that they must identify a prejudicial error to
overturn the District Court's aware of attorneys' fees or the denial of their

Hunnycut motion. According to the Nevada Supreme Court, an appellate court

"must affirm unless the error complained of is substantial." (Ormachea v.

Ormachea, 67 Nev. 273, 294 (Nev. 1950).) The high court further held that

"[w]henever substantial justice is done, a technical error, which has worked no
injury, will not warrant reversal." (Id.) Likewise, a District Court's order will
not be disturbed on appeal, even if rendered for the wrong reason, if the order

was not in error. (Id at 295; see also Trans. Western Leasing v. Corrao Constr.

Co., 98 Nev. 445, 449 (Nev. 1982).) In this case, Defendants do not identify any
substantial errors committed by the District Court.

C. <u>Defendants' Appeal Is Barred By The Law Of The Case</u>.

The law of the case doctrine is well-established in Nevada. The Nevada Supreme Court holds that "[w]hen an appellate court states a principle or rule of law necessary to a decision, the principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be followed throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal." (*Tien Fu Hsu v. County of Clark*, 123 Nev. 625, 629-30 (Nev. 2007).) The Supreme Court explained that the doctrine "is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration,

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

003⁸-800 (202)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest." (Id.) The Supreme Court concluded that the law of the case doctrine serves important policy considerations, including judicial consistency, finality, and protection of the court's integrity.

In Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314 (Nev. 1975), the high court stated the principle as follows: "The law of a first appeal is the law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." (Id. at 315.) In a statement that foreshadowed this appeal, the Supreme Court held that the doctrine "cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." (Id. at 316.)

In this case, Defendants run headlong into *Hsu* and *Hall*. They argued in their prior appeal that Plaintiff was not able to file suit in Nevada because it had not qualified to do business in Nevada. That argument was soundly rejected. Nonetheless, Defendants again argue in this appeal that "[t]here is no evidence available that would serve to allow Plaintiff to maintain this action against these Appellants in any event, because of Respondent's assertions that it was never licensed and never did business here." (Opening Brief at 5:15-19.) This is the same argument that was rejected in the prior appeal and Defendants' change of focus from "maintaining a suit" to "commencing a suit" does not assist them. (See Wolff v. State, 455 P.3d 849 (Nev. 2020) [holding that the law of the case

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

doctrine precluded a second appeal because the appellant "has not alleged nor shown that his current claim is substantially new or different than what was considered on direct appeal"].)

The law of the case doctrine prevents Defendants from re-litigating an issue they lost in a prior appeal. Defendants do not cite to any evidence that they did not cite to in their prior appeal and they do not identify any issue that is substantially different from the issue that was considered in their prior appeal. Defendants have already lost and their appeal should again be denied.

D. <u>Plaintiff Was Not Required To Qualify To Do Business In Nevada To</u> File Suit.

Defendants premise their legal argument on the statement that "Nevada does not allow foreign LLCs to do business without a license to do business." (Opening Brief at 5:6.) While Plaintiff does not disagree, the statement is entirely irrelevant. Defendants themselves concede that Plaintiff has never done any business in Nevada and as a result Plaintiff was never required to qualify to do business in Nevada. This undisputed fact defeats Defendants' appeal.

1. Plaintiff has never conducted business in Nevada.

In addition to the concessions in their Opening Brief, Defendants did not identify a single fact in their underlying Huneycutt motion indicating that Plaintiff has ever done business in Nevada. (Appellants' Appendix ("AA"), at

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

800.) Defendants do not attribute any business activities to Plaintiff, they do not identify any of Plaintiff's Nevada employees and they do not identify any of Plaintiff's Nevada business contacts.

Defendants did not rebut the evidence that Plaintiff introduced supporting its position that it has never done business in Nevada. Defendants likewise do not identify any facts in their Opening Brief indicating that Plaintiff has ever done business in Nevada. As such, Defendants cannot meet their burden on appeal.

As stated by Plaintiff in its Opposition to the *Huneycutt* motion, Plaintiff is a limited liability company that is based in Illinois and conducts business in Illinois. It has not qualified to do business in Nevada because it has never done business in Nevada. Plaintiff does not have any employees in Nevada, it does not have any agents in Nevada, it does not maintain an office in Nevada and it does not have any clients in Nevada. (AA, at 813.) Plaintiff's only contact with Nevada is this litigation. (*Id.*)

The Nevada Supreme Court holds that "the test to determine if a company is doing business in a state is two pronged. Courts look first to the nature of the company's business functions in the forum state, and then to the quantity of business conducted in the forum state." (Sierra Glass & Mirror v. Viking Indus., Inc., 107 Nev. 119, 122 (1991).) Again, this test results in the inescapable

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

003-8600 15 15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

conclusion that Plaintiff is not doing business in Nevada under any possible legal test. Plaintiff has no business functions in Nevada and it has conducted no business in Nevada. Zero plus zero equals zero.

Notably, the facts of Sierra Glass clearly demonstrate the defects with Defendants' argument. Viking Industries was the party allegedly doing business in Nevada. The Supreme Court described its "associations" with Nevada as follows:

> Its total sales volume amounts to approximately \$ 20,000,000 in the thirty states in which it conducts business. Of that amount, about \$3,000,000 is from sales into Nevada. At the time the cause of action arose, Viking had one sales representative, Linda Aronsohn. who worked in Nevada. She resided in Las Vegas and spent two weeks a month calling on customers and visiting sales prospects in Reno and Las Vegas. Viking maintained a listed telephone in Las Vegas which operated out of Aronsohn's home. Nevada customers would place orders through Aronsohn, who would then phone the orders and send checks to Portland. (Sierra Glass, 107 Nev. at 121.)

Despite this level of activity and its finding that Viking's activities appeared to be continuous and systematic, the Supreme Court held that Viking was not doing business in Nevada because it could not say Viking "had so localized itself into the community that its activities in Nevada took on an intrastate quality." (Sierra Glass, 107 Nev. at 125.) In this case, Plaintiff's only contact with Nevada is its current lawsuit against Defendants. It has no business

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

003³03-800 (202)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

functions in Nevada, it earns no money from Nevada and it does not have any employees in Nevada. Plaintiff does not do any business in Nevada.

2. Defendants rely in irrelevant legal authority.

As they did in their prior appeal, Defendants primarily rely on AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington, 245 P.3d 1190 (Nev. 2010) to support their brief. This case is irrelevant to this appeal. As noted by the Supreme Court, the substantive question in AA Primo was "whether a Nevada limited liability company whose charter is revoked, then reinstated, may litigate a pending suit to conclusion." (Id. at 9-10.) However, the resolution of this question, and the decision rendered in AA Primo, does not assist Defendants. AA Primo filed suit to recover payment for a patio remodel job that it performed in Nevada and it was unquestionably doing business in the state. (Id. at 11.) The Supreme Court's entire analysis was based on the fact that AA Primo was engaged in business activities in Nevada. In this case, it is undisputed that Plaintiff has never done business in the state and AA Primo is irrelevant to any plaintiff who is not transacting business.

Notably, Defendants do not merely rely on inapplicable authority but they grossly mischaracterize that authority. On page seven, line 14, of their Opening Brief, Defendants state that "in AA Primo Builders, commencement of a lawsuit

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

is doing business in Nevada." The Supreme Court did not say anything remotely similar to this in AA Primo.

Defendants likewise mischaracterize the result of *Resort at Summerlin v*. District Court, 118 Nev. 110 (Nev. 2002). In Resort at Summerlin, the Supreme Court noted that it was deciding whether "Nevada's 'door closing' statute, NRS 80.210, bars foreign corporations from commencing or maintaining suits in the courts of this state when those corporations have initially qualified to conduct business in Nevada pursuant to the laws of this state, yet fail to comply with the statutorily prescribed annual reporting requirements." (Resort at Summerlin, 118 Nev. at 110-111.) This decision has nothing to do with the ability of a foreign LLC which has never conducted business in Nevada to file suit in Nevada.

Defendants then cite to NRS 86.213, which is likewise irrelevant. This statute concerns persons other than foreign LLCs "who [are] purporting to do business in this State." NRS 86.548 is irrelevant for the same reason as it concerns foreign LLCS which are "transacting business in this State."

It is not surprising that Defendants are unable to identify a single statute or judicial decision requiring a foreign entity which is not doing business in Nevada to qualify to do business before filing suit. No such authority exists and

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

§ 14

75 (20) (30)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Defendants are deliberately misreading the authority on which they rely. Defendants do not meet their burden and their appeal should be denied.

> 3. There is no functional difference between commencing a lawsuit and maintaining a lawsuit.

Defendants try to argue that while Plaintiff may have been able to maintain its suit against them it was not able to file suit in the first place. This argument is absurd and can only have been asserted in bad faith. Defendants cannot avoid the impact of this Court's recent decision denying their prior appeal through clever wordsmanship and their current appeal is as meritless as their prior appeal.

While the words "commence" and "maintain" obviously have different meanings, that difference is meaningless in the context of this appeal. As Defendants correctly note, an entity that is doing business in Nevada can neither commence nor maintain a lawsuit if it is not qualified to do business during the course of the suit. On the other hand, an entity that is not doing business in Nevada does not need to qualify before commencing suit or maintaining a suit. In practice, there is no functional difference between the two words.

Again, Defendants attempt to support their inane argument by simply ignoring the facts of the judicial decision on which they rely. They cite to Resort at Summerlin, supra, to support their position that Plaintiff was required to

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

003)303-860 (202)

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

qualify to do business in Nevada before it commenced its suit against them. In particular, Defendants argue on page 9 of their Opening Brief that Resort at Summerlin holds that filing suit in Nevada, in and of itself, constitutes "doing business in Nevada." However, Resort at Summerlin says no such thing. While the Supreme Court did note that it was "uncontested that A B was 'doing business' in Nevada," it made the statement because A B was a painting subcontractor which was supplying labor and materials in construction projects. This conduct, not filing a lawsuit, constituted "doing business" in Nevada. Defendants do not meet their burden and their appeal should be denied.

> 4. Nevada law does not require a foreign LLC that is not doing business in Nevada to qualify to do business before filing suit.

Defendants' argument defies common sense. According to Defendants, an Arizona gas station that sues a Nevada resident in Nevada for writing a bad check would first have to qualify to do business in Nevada. Likewise, an out-ofstate entity that buys a product from a Nevada seller would have to qualify to do business in Nevada before filing suit because the product was defective. Clearly, this is not the law.

Further, this Court already confirmed that NRS 86.5483 exempts Plaintiff from the requirement to qualify to do business. In its recent decision denying Defendants' prior appeal, this Court held that "pursuing a legal action appears to

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

8్లో **1**4

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

fall squarely within" NRS 86.5483(1)'s definition of conduct that does not constitute doing business. This ruling defeats Defendants' appeal and the appeal should be denied.

E. <u>Defendants Should Be Sanctioned Pursuant To Rule 38.</u>

Rule 38(a) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure authorizes this Court to impose sanctions if it determines that an appeal is frivolous. Rule 38(b) provides that when an appeal is frivolous or when circumstances indicate that an appeal has been taken solely for purposes of delay, this Court may require the offending party to pay as costs on appeal such attorney fees as it deems appropriate to discourage similar conduct in the future. In this case, Defendants should be sanctioned for filing a frivolous appeal.

Initially, no reasonable attorney could believe that Plaintiff was required to qualify to do business before filing suit. Defendants acknowledge in their Opening Brief that Plaintiff has never conducted business in Nevada and their argument that Plaintiff conducted business simply by filing suit is more than merely meritless. Defendants brazenly mischaracterize legal authority in their attempt to fit a square peg into a round hole and their conduct reveals their knowledge that their argument is frivolous.

Defendants also admit that they received this Court's June 17 decision which rejected the argument they assert in this appeal. In other words, despite a

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

365 (202) (202)

16

17

18

19

20

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